

Sveriges lantbruksuniversitet Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences

Faculty of Natural Resources and Agricultural Sciences Department of Food Science

In vitro inhibition of CYP1A and CYP3A by phenolic compounds from bilberry (*Vaccinium myrtillus*), in male and female *porcine* liver microsomes

Felicia Woll



Agronomy Program – Food Science Independent Project in Food Science • Master Thesis • 30 hec • Advanced A2E Publikation/Sveriges lantbruksuniversitet, Institutionen för livsmedelsvetenskap, no 423 Uppsala, 2014

In vitro inhibition of CYP1A and CYP3A by bilberry (*Vaccinium myrtillus*) phenolics, in male and female porcine microsomes

Felicia Woll

| raiskala, Department of Food Science, SL | υ |
|--|---|
| | |
| | |

Examiner:

Rikard Landberg, Department of Food Science, SLU

Credits: 30 hec Level: Advanced A2E Course title: Independent Project in Food Science Course code: EX0425 Program/education: Agronomy – Food Science

Place of publication: Uppsala Year of publication: 2015 Cover picture: Felicia Woll Title of series: Publikation/Sveriges lantbruksuniversitet, Institutionen för livsmedelsvetenskap Serie no: 423 Online publication: http://stud.epsilon.slu.se

Keywords: CYP450, CYP1A, CYP3A, bilberry (Vaccinium myrtillus), drug-interactions, myricetin, isorhamnetin, rutin, quercetin

Sveriges lantbruksuniversitet Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences

Faculty of Natural Resources and Agricultural Sciences Department of Food Science

Sammanfattning

Blåbär (*Vaccinium myrtillus*) har ett högt innehåll av fenoler (flavonoider och fenolsyror). Vissa av dessa fenoler har visats metaboliseras i levern av cytokrom P450, ett enzymatiskt system vilket även är har en huvudsaklig roll gällande metaboliseringen av läkemedel. Det har rapporterats att ett flertal flavonoler (en flavonoid subgrupp), så som quercetin, myricetin, isorhamnetin och rutin har interagerat med CYP450, t.ex. via inhibering. Inhibering av CYP450 kan antingen öka eller minska effekten av läkemedel. Därav bör interaktioner mellan blåbär och metabolisering av läkemedel närmare studeras. Skillnader i metabolism mellan män och kvinnor bör också studeras i.o.m. att CYP450 gener uttrycks olika hos män och kvinnor. Mikrosomer från levern är användbara i *in vitro*-modeller, vilka ofta tillämpas i ett tidigt skede av läkemedel och livsmedel samt mellan läkemedel och läkemedel. På grund av likheterna mellan gris och människa med avseende på CYP450 i lever samt på grund av den stora tillgängligheten av grislever via slakterier, har mikrosomer från gris blivit en attraktiv model i biokemiska studier av könsrelaterade skillnader i livsmedels-läkemedelsinteraktioner.

Målet för denna studie var att utvärdera om och hur blåbär och fenoliska förningar i blåbär inhiberar CYP450 isoform 1A och 3A. Fem flavonoler från blåbär valdes utefter deras potential att interagera med CYP450. I dagsläget, har inga studier andra studier påträffats avseende blåbär och de valda komponenternas inhiberande effekt på CY1A och CYP3A. Fyra fenolsyror som finns i blåbär valdes också ut för att studeras p.g.a. deras antioxidativa kapaciteter (som i mycket liknar flavonolernas). Välkända och specifika probe substrat användes tillsammans med mikrosomer från svin (entire male and female pigs). Kinetiska mätningar utfördes för att utreda inhiberingsmekanism. Potentiella skillnader mellan könen utvärderades.

CYP3A aktivitet inhiberades av myricetin; icke-kompetitivt hos hanar (Ki=112.7) och inte alls hos honor, av isorhamnetin; kompetitivt hos hanar (Ki=71.2) och icke-kompetitivt hos honor (Ki=93.7). CYP1A aktivitet inhiberades av myricetin; kompetitivt hos hanar (Ki=2.5) och hos honor (Ki=4.6), av isorhamnetin; kompetitivt hos hanar (Ki=99.9) och hos honor (Ki=10.8), av quercetin; kompetitvt hos hanar (Ki=0.2) och irreversibelt hos honor (IC₅₀=1.3).

Resultaten ifrån denna studie indikerar att aktiviteten av CYP450 1A och 3A inhiberas av vissa komponenter från blåbär och att detta är en effekt som kan ha könsrelaterade skillnader.

Nyckelord: Cytokrom P450, CYP1A, CYP3A, Blåbär (Vaccinium myrtillus), Läkemedelsinteraktioner, Myricetin, Isorhamnetin, Quercetin

Abstract

Bilberry fruit (*Vaccinium myrtillus*) is a rich source of bioactive compounds, including flavonols and phenolic acids. At least some of these compounds were shown to be metabolized in the liver by cytochrome P450 (CYP450) enzyme system, which is also important in the metabolism of pharmaceuticals. Several flavonols (a flavonoid subgroup) such as quercetin, myricetin, isorhamnetin and rutin have been reported to integrate with CYP450, i.e. by inhibition. Thus, a possibility of bilberry interaction with pharmaceutical metabolism should be carefully studied. Gender-related differences of such interactions should also be considered given that CYP450 genes in male and female are differentially expressed. Hepatic microsomes are useful in vitro model commonly used at early stages of drug development to identify potential food-drug or drug-drug interactions. Pig is increasingly used as an animal model for human biomedical studies. The comparability of hepatic CYP450 between pigs and humans as well as easy availability of porcine livers from abattoirs make porcine microsomes an attractive model to study gender-related differences in food-drug interactions.

The aim of this study was to evaluate the inhibitory effect of selected phenolic compounds from bilberry fruit on the activities of CYP1A and CYP3A in porcine hepatic microsomes. Five flavonols and four phenolic acids were selected for the study. This selection was based on two criteria, abundance in bilberry and potential interaction with CYP450. To estimate CYP1A and CYP3A activities, the probe substrates 7-ethoxyresorutin and 7-benzyloxy-4-triflouromethylcoumarin (BFC) were used, respectively.

This study demonstrated that CYP3A activity was non-competitively inhibited by myricetin in male pigs only (Ki=112.7) and-, competitively by isorhamnetin in both male (Ki=71.2) and female pigs (Ki=93.7). CYP1A activity was competitively inhibited by myricetin in male (Ki=2.5) and female pigs (Ki=4.6) and by isorhamnetin in male (Ki=99.9) and in female pigs (Ki=10.8). Inhibition mode of CYP1A by quercetin differed between genders being competitive in male (Ki=0.2) and irreversible in female pigs (IC_{50} =1.3).

In conclusion, this study suggests that the activity of hepatic CYP450 1A and 3A are inhibited by the flavonols myricetin, isorhamnetin and querctin. Moreover, this study provides first evidence of gender-related differences in this inhibition.

Keywords: Cytochrome P450, CYP1A, CYP3A, Bilberry (Vaccinium myrtillus), Food-drug interactions, Myricetin, Isorhamnetin, Quercetin

Table of contents

| 1 | Introduction | 6 |
|-----|--|----|
| 1.1 | Background | 6 |
| 1.2 | Objective | 7 |
| 2 | Literature review | 8 |
| 2.1 | Content of phenolic compounds bilberry fruit (Vaccinium myrtillus) | 8 |
| 2.2 | Food-drug interaction (FDI) | 9 |
| | 2.2.1 Biotransformation of drugs in the liver | 9 |
| 2.3 | Cytochrome P450 | 10 |
| | 2.3.1 CYP450 isoform 1A | 10 |
| | 2.3.2 CYP450 family 3A | 11 |
| 2.4 | Microsomal in vitro studies of CYP450 | 11 |
| | 2.4.1 Model organisms for in vitro studies of CYP450 activity | 11 |
| | 2.4.2 CYP450 regulation | 12 |
| | 2.4.3 CYP450 catalytic activity | 13 |
| 2.5 | Inhibition of CYP450 | 15 |
| | 2.5.1 Irreversible inhibition | 16 |
| | 2.5.2 Reversible inhibition | 16 |
| 2.6 | CYP450 inhibition by flavonoids | 18 |
| | 2.6.1 CYP1A inhibitors | 18 |
| | 2.6.2 CYP3A inhibitors | 20 |
| 3 | Material & Method | 22 |
| 3.1 | Chemicals | 22 |
| 3.2 | Study design | 22 |
| 3.3 | Biochemical analysis | 23 |
| | 3.3.1 Bilberry extract preparation | 23 |
| | 3.3.2 Microsomal preparation | 23 |
| | 3.3.3 Cytochrome P450 enzymatic assays | 23 |

| | 3.3.4 | Bilberry extract | 24 | |
|-----|-------------|--|----|--|
| | 3.3.5 | Individual compounds from bilberry extract | 25 | |
| | 3.3.6 | Enzyme inhibition kinetics | 25 | |
| 3.4 | Statist | ical analysis | 26 | |
| 4 | Resul | ts | 27 | |
| 4.1 | CYP4 | 50 activity in the presence of bilberry | 27 | |
| 5 | Discussion | | | |
| 6 | Conclusions | | | |
| 7 | Refere | ences | 34 | |
| 8 | Ackno | owledgements | 39 | |
| 9 | Apper | ndix: Popular summary | 40 | |

Abbreviations

| BBJ | Blueberry juice |
|--------|---------------------------------------|
| BFC | 7-Benzyloxy-4-Triflouromethylcoumarin |
| BROD | Benzyloxyresorufin O-Debenzylase |
| BUS | Buspiron |
| CYP1A | Cytochrome P450 1A |
| CYP3A | Cytochrome P450 3A |
| CYP450 | Cytochrome P450 |
| DDI | Drug-Drug Interactions |
| EROD | 7-Ethoxyresorufin O-Deethylase |
| ES | Enzyme-substrate |
| FDI | Food-Drug Interactions |
| HFC | 7-Hydroxy-4-Triflouromethylcoumarin |
| IBS | Irritable bowel syndrome |
| MROD | Methoxyresorufin O-Demethylation |
| NIP | Nifedipine |
| PHEN | Phenacetin |
| TST | Testosterone 6β-hydroxylation |
| ZAT | Zatosetron |

1 Introduction

1.1 Background

Bilberry fruit (*Vaccinium myrtillus*) is traditionally used both as a food and as a folk medicine (Sjörs, 1989). As a food, bilberry fruit is eaten fresh, dried or processed into jams, pie fillings, liqueurs, wine and may serve as a preservative (Small & Catling, 1999, 170- 176). Due to its high phenolic content, bilberry extract is extensively used as an ingredient in supplements and natural medicines (Yamamoto *et al.*, 2013). Bilberry extract contains several bioactive flavonoids (including flavonols) and phenolic acids, with different bioactivities that may have implications for health, such as antioxidative effects (Kahkonen *et al.*, 2001). A few flavonoids exert cancer chemopreventive effects and are thus used in cancer chemotherapy (Yang *et al.*, 2001; Shih *et al.*, 2000).

In folk medicine, bilberry was used to treat inflammations in mouth and trout, mild diarrhea, to improve night vision and to lessen bleeding before surgery (Small & Catling, 1999, 172-73). Beliefs of bilberry as a medical crop is partly supported by *in vitro* findings (Biedermann *et al.*, 2013; Master *et al.*, 2012; Triebel *et al.*, 2012; Basu *et al.*, 2010; Karlsen *et al.*, 2010). However, scientific evidence for that is limited (Canter & Ernst, 2004; Conquer *et al.*, 1998).

Potential health benefits of bilberry might be compromised by the presence of compounds which can interfere with drug metabolism and detoxification, leading to so called food-drug interactions, FDI (Thummel & Wilkinson, 1998). FDI may occur during intestinal absorption, hepatic metabolism and excretion (Guengerich & Shimada, 1998). Partly, FDI occur through induction or inhibition of cytochrome P450 (CYP450), which is responsible for the biotransformation of a majority of drugs (Guengerich & Shimada, 1998). For example, components from grapefruit (Ho *et al.*, 2001), St. Johnś wort (Obach, 2000)and blueberry juice (Hanley *et al.*, 2013) inhibit the activity of CYP450 and, depending on substrate (drug), may either increase or decrease its effect (Moon *et al.*, 2006). It is believed that quercetin, myricetin, rutin (Ho *et al.*, 2001) and isorhamnetin interact with CYP450 (Kimura *et al.*, 2010). The nature of these interactions is not yet well documented and very little in known how gender affects FDI (Dresser *et al.*, 2000). It is well known that CYP450 genes are differentially expressed in males and females (Rasmussen *et al.*, 2011) and, CYP450 activity is also gender related (Skaanild & Friis, 1999)

Liver microsomes contain the full range of CYP450 and thus, are a useful model for *in vitro* studies of CYP450 activity (Bambal & Clarke, 2010,70). Human microsomes have been extensively studied but, due to a limited supply and high costs,

animal models are being frequently used (Skaanild, 2006). The porcine (pig/minipig) CYP450 enzyme system and drug metabolism is similar to human, suggesting that porcine microsomes can be an attractive model to study food-drug interactions (Skaanild, 2006). Data from *in vitro* studies are often used in early stages of drug development, to screen a compound against potential FDI and DDI and, provide information for designing possible future clinical studies (Ito *et al.*, 2004).

In the present study, bilberry fruit (*Vaccnium myrtillus*), five flavonols (quercetin, rutin, myricetin isorhamnetin) and three phenolic acids (p-coumaric acid, caffeic acid and gallic acid) found in bilberry fruit were investigated for their potential to inhibit CYP450 activity *in vitro*. Both reversible and irreversible inhibitions were examined. The present study also evaluated the possibility of gender-related differences in CYP450 activity.

1.2 Objective

The overall objective of this study was to evaluate the inhibitory potential of flavonols and phenolic acids from bilberry fruit on porcine CYP450 activity.

Specific aims of the study were:

- (1) To investigate *in vitro* effect of rutin, myricetin, quercetin, isorhamnetin, pcoumaric acid, gallic acid and caffeic acid on CYP1A and CYP3A activities in porcine liver microsomes.
- (2) To investigate gender-related differences in response of CYP1A and CYP3A to these phenolic compounds.

2 Literature review

2.1 Content of phenolic compounds bilberry fruit (*Vaccinium myrtillus*)

The content of phenolic compounds in bilberry fruit (*V. myrtillus*) is mainly represented by flavonoids and phenolic acids (Häkkinen *et al.*, 1999).

Flavonoids are characterized by antioxidative-, (Kähkönen *et al.*, 2001; Kähkönen & Heinonen, 2003), enzyme inhibition-, chelating- and reduction activities (Di Carlo *et al.*, 1999). Many flavonoids are well distributed in most plant foods, where they are present in glycosylated forms (Mikulik-Petkovesk, 2012). In the human diet, berries have been suggested to be the most concentrated source of glycosylated flavonols (Mikulik-Petkovesk, 2012). Flavonols are one of several flavonoid subgroups which, in bilberry fruit are represented e.g. by quercetin and myricetin and their glycosylates, isorhamnetin (Mikulik-Petkovesk, 2012) which is the 3'-methylated form of quercetin (Breinholt *et al.*, 2002) and, rutin, which is a quercetin glycosylate (Moze *et al.*, 2011).

Phenolic acids exert similar effects to flavonoids, (Hakkinen *et al.*, 1999; Yang *et al.*, 2001) and are represented in bilberry fruit e.g. by *p*-coumaric acid and caffeic acid, which are derivates of hydroxycinnamic acid and gallic acid, a derivate of hydroxbenzoic acid (Häkkinen *et al.*, 1999). The content and concentration of phenolic compounds in bilberry fruit vary, depending on several factors, e.g. geographic location (Åkerström *et al.*, 2010) and season (Moze *et al.*, 2011).

Recent findings suggested that flavonoids such as flavonols may be responsible for several health beneficial effects such as, antiallgeric (quercetin), antiatherogenic (quercetin), anticancer (quercetin, rutin), antidiabetic (quercetin), antidiarrhoeal (quercetin, myricetin), antihepatotoxic (quercetin), anti-inflammatory (quercetin, myricetin), antipsasmotic (quercetin) and antiulcer activity (quercetin, rutin) (Di Carlo *et al.*, 1999). Flavonoids are generally accepted as health beneficial and thus, individual flavonoids as well as flavonoid rich bilberry extract have become attractive ingredients in dietary supplements, functional foods and herbal medicine, which are easily available, e.g. in supermarkets (Yamamoto *et al.*, 2013; Conquer *et al.*, 1998; Kalogeromitros *et al.*, 2008). In U.S many of these products are accompanied with some kind of medical claim (Kalogeromitros *et al.*, 2008). The regulations and demands of clinical studies are not as rigorous as for other conventional drugs (Dresser *et al.*, 2000).

2.2 Food-drug interaction (FDI)

The increased consumption of supplements, herbal medicines and functional foods has evoked awareness of food/herb-drug interactions (Hansen & Nilsen, 2008). Food-drug interactions (FDI) occur when components from the food by some means interact with drug metabolism and modify both drug bioavailability and drug effect (Guengerich & Shimada, 1998). FDI may take place during intestinal absorption, hepatic metabolism and excretion (Guengerich & Shimada, 1998). The present study focused on hepatic metabolism, as a site of drug biotransformation. Some commonly used herbs and fruits can cause serious alterations in human health if consumed simultaneously with certain drugs (Conney, 2003). Grapefruit (Ewards *et al.*, 1996; Ho *et al.*, 2001; Girennavar *et al.*, 2005), St. John's wort (Obach *et al.*, 2000; Hansen & Nilsen, 2008(Hansen & Nilsen, 2008), ginkgo biloba, (von Moltke *et al.*, 2004), chicory root (Rasmussen *et al.*, 2012) and blueberry juice (Hanley *et al.*, 2012) are foods that have recently been shown to interact with drug metabolism. The active components and the mechanisms are though not yet fully understood (Thummel & Wilkonson, 1998).

2.2.1 Biotransformation of drugs in the liver

Hepatic biotransformation of drugs (activation/deactivation) determines the bioavailability and thus the effect of the drug (Guengerish & Shimada, 1998). In the liver, cytochrome P450 (CYP450) is responsible for a majority of drug biotransformations (Guengerish & Shimada, 1998). Phenacetin (Bourrié *et al.*, 1996), nifedipine (Anzenbacher *et al.*, 1997), zatosetron (Ring *et al.*, 1994) and testosterone (Anzenbacher *et al.*, 1997) are a few examples of drugs that are biotransformed in the human liver. Usually, biotransformation is divided into two phases, of which phase 1 includes CYP450 oxidation, resulting in increased solubility (polarity) of the drug and provision of sites for conjugation with polar units e.g. glucuronate or sulfate (Thummel & Wilkonson, 1989). The following phase II metabolism (conjugation) is then carried out by other enzymes to further increase the solubility of the xenobiotic and/or endogenous metabolites and facilitate their excretion from the body (Preusse & Skaanild, 2011, 148).

2.3 Cytochrome P450

Cytochrome P450 (CYP450) is a superfamily of hemoprotein containing mixed function monooxygenases, which are responsible for phase I biotransformation of drugs and other xenobiotic compounds such as, environmental pollutants and, endogenous substances such as steroids and fatty acids (Conney, 2003). In human, approximately 55 isoforms of CYP450 are known, of which only some (belonging to CYP450 family 1, 2 and 3) are relevant for drug metabolism (Thummel & Wilkinson, 1998).

2.3.1 CYP450 isoform 1A

Cytochrome P450 subfamily 1A (CYP1A) in human, consists of two major isoforms, 1A1 and 1A2 (Venkatakrishnan *et al.*, 2001). CYP1A1 is not significantly expressed in the human liver, but was found in the intestine and lungs (Venkatakrishnan *et al.*, 2001). CYP1A2 is the major CYP1 gene family product, present in hepatic microsomes (Moon *et al.*, 2005), representing approximately 13% of the total amount of CYP450 in the human liver (Bambal & Clarke, 2010, 60).

CYP1As are involved in biotransformation (activation and deactivation) of many procarcinogens such as aromatic heterocyclic amines and mycotoxins (Macé *et al.*, 1997), CYP1A's are popular targets in research on cancer therapy and prevention (Conney, 2003). A high CYP1A1 expression in human is associated with increased risk of lung cancer in smokers, probably due to an increased activation of procarcinogens from the cigarette smoke (Venkatakrishnan *et al.*, 2001), i.e. polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAH's) such as benso(a)pyrene (Schwartz *et al.*, 2005). Both CYP1A isoforms are involved in the metabolism of the estrogen 17β -estradiol (E₂) (Takemura *et al.*, 2010).

CYP1A2 metabolizes caffeine, theophylline, imipramine, acetaminophen, carcinogenic aromatic and heterocyclic amines (Bambal & Clarke, 2010, 66) and, is often subject of studies on cancer chemoprevention (Shih *et al.*, 2000; Conney, 2003). Cancer chemopreventive agents, e.g. quercetin are found in many plant foods (Shih *et al.*, 2000). It has been pointed out that components which acts as chemopreventive agents in one experimental setting, may have the opposite (hazardous) effect in another setting , thus the cancer chemopreventive regimen should also be tailored to the individuals where the pathways of carcinogenesis is well known (Conney, 2003).

2.3.2 CYP450 family 3A

The cytochrome P450 subfamily 3A (CYP3A) in human consists of three isoforms, namely CYP3A3, 3A4 and 3A5 (Thummel & Wilkinson, 1998). CYP3A4 is the quantitatively most important in human, representing approximately 30% of the total amount of CYP450 in human liver (Thummel & Wilkonson, 1998). CYP3A3 shares over 98% cDNA homology with CYP3A4 and it is not yet established whether 3A3 is an own gene product or an allelic variation of 3A4 and, the two isoforms are thus collectively named CYP3A4 (Thummel & Wilkinson, 1998). CYP3A5 is only found in 10-30% of the hepatic samples (in levels of 10-30% of CYP3A4 levels) and, is structurally distinct from CYP3A4 (Thummel & Wilkinson, 1998).

Approximately 50% the oxidative metabolism of drugs in the liver is mediated by CYP3A4 (Bambal & Clarke, 2010, 60), representing increased risk for drug interactions (Zuber *et al.*, 2002). CYP3A may also chemically activate or deactivate carcinogens in the liver (Dresser, 2000).

2.4 Microsomal in vitro studies of CYP450

2.4.1 Model organisms for in vitro studies of CYP450 activity

One of the first CYP450 being isolated and characterized were CYP1A2 in rat, (Zuber *et al.*, 2002). Later it was found that CYP1A2 is conserved throughout species, including human (Zuber *et al.*, 2002). However, there are many substrates, which are metabolized in humans and rats by different isoforms, which makes rat a less suitable model for human studies (Zuber *et al.*, 2002).

Pig is a good model for human CYP1A (Zuber *et al.*, 2002) and CYP3A (Zuber *et al.*, 2002; Soucek *et al.*, 2001; Skaanild & Friis, 1999; Monshouer *et al.*, 1998; Anzenbacher *et al.*, 1997) and, are often used in preclinical pharmacological and toxicological studies, because of its many similarities (both physiological and metabolic) with human (Suenderhauf & Parrott, 2013).

Compared to human liver microsomes, where CYP1A1 isoform is not expressed, conflicting data have been published on the presence of CYP1A1 in the pig liver (Achour *et al.*, 2011). In many studies, CYP1A1 mRNA was detected in the liver of

Meishan and Landrace pig (Kojima & Degawa, 2013; Messina *et al.*, 2011), although other reported only the presence of CYP1A2 (Achour *et al.*, 2011). Activity of 7-ethoxyresorufin-O-deethylase (EROD) is commonly used as a probe reaction to estimate CYP1A activity. Both the expression of CYP1A and EROD activity differed between male and female pigs (Skaanild & Friis, 1999). In female pigs, CYP1A activity was higher in female compared to male (Rasmussen *et al.*, 2012).

In pigs, the isoforms CYP3A29 and CYP3A39, representing 14% of total CYP450 content, are homologous to human CYP3A4/5 (Anchour *et al.*, 2011). In porcine thus, the amount of hepatic CYP3A is less than in human (**Table 1**).

| | | Most relevant drug metabolizing CYP450 isoforms | | | | | | | | | |
|--------------------------|------------------------|---|-----------------|-----|-----------------|-----------------|-----------------|-------------------|-----------------|-----|--|
| | 3A | 1A2 | 2A6 | 2B6 | 2C8 | 2C9 | 2C19 | 2D6 | 2E1 | 3A5 | |
| Total, % Human: | 34 ¹ | 13 ¹ | 5 ¹ | 31 | 6 ¹ | 17 ¹ | 0.31 | 2^{1} | 15 ¹ | 21 | |
| Porcine: | 14 ² | | 34 ² | | | 16 ² | | 26 ² | | | |
| Drug metabol- ism (%) | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Human: | 50 ¹ | Less ¹ | | | 15 ¹ | | 25 ¹ | Less ¹ | | | |

Table 1. Percentage of the most important drug metabolizing enzymes present in human liver relative to their homologues in porcine liver microsomes and amount of drug metabolism in human liver.

¹ Bambal & Clarke, 2010, 60, ² Achour et al., 2011

2.4.2 CYP450 regulation

The mechanism of CYP450 regulation is well studied in human (Venkatakrishnan *et al.*, 2001); however, less data on porcine CYP450 is available (Preusse & Skaanild, 2012). Regulation of CYP450 expression depends on various factors and their combination, including the presence of substrate, genetic background, hormonal status, age, gender etc. (Tsyrlov *et al.*, 1994; Hodek *et al.*, 2002; Rasmussen *et al.*, 2011; Zamaratskaia *et al.*, 2005; Brunius *et al.*, 2012; Zamaratskaia *et al.*, 2011 Zamaratskaia *et al.*, 2012). The mechanisms of this regulation involve orphan nuclear receptors, the major transcriptional factor of CYP450 expression regulation (Wang & LeCluyse, 2003). Some CYP450 are regulated on a post-transcriptional level (Brunius *et al.*, 2012). Additionally, CYP450 activity can be directly regulated by the presence of inhibitors, for example bioactive compounds in the diet (Hodek *et al.*, 2007).

Both breed- and gender-related differences in CYP450 activity have been demonstrated in porcine microsomes (Kojima & Degawa, 2013; Rasmussen *et al.*, 2012; Rasmussen *et al.*, 2011; Skaanild & Friis, 1999). Even though the total amount of CYP450 did not differ between male and female pigs, the expression and catalytic rate of CYP1A-mediated EROD and CYP3A-mediated testosterone 6β -hydroxylation differed between male and female pigs (Skaanild & Friis, 1999). The activity of CYP1A2 was observed to be higher in female compared to male pigs (Skaanild & Friis, 1999). The same study also demonstrated that the gene expression and protein concentration of CYP1A2 were higher in female than in male pigs (Skaanild & Friis, 1999).

2.4.3 CYP450 catalytic activity

Most CYP450 isoforms in liver microsomes metabolize a variety of substrates and thus participates in different catalytic activities (Guengerich, 1997). The catalytic activities of individual CYP450 isoforms are commonly assessed using probe (or marker) substrate(s) (Venkatakrishnan *et al.*, 2001). A probe substrate is a molecule which is metabolized by one specific isoform and thus, metabolism of a probe substrate can be used to estimate activity of a specific isoform (Garcia-Serna & Mestres, 2011). Catalytic activities of individual CYP450 enzymes depends on various factors and vary between individuals (Bourrié *et al.*, 1996), between species (Zamaratskaia *et al.*, 2012) and between genders within the same species (Rasmussen *et al.*, 2011).

CYP1A

In human, CYP1A activity is usually estimated as a rate of ethoxyresorufin *O*-deethylation (EROD) (Anzenbacher *et al.*, 1997; Guengerich, 1997). EROD activity was detected in the microsomes from minipig, although obtained values were somewhat lower than in the microsomes from human (Anzenbacher *et al.*, 1997). EROD activity was also detected in conventional pigs, however, it was suggested that EROD might not accurately reflect CYP1A1 activity, as it is probably metabolized by two isoforms (Zamaratskaia *et al.*, 2011; Zamaratskaia & Zlabek, 2009). Porcine CYP1A activity may also be estimated as a rate of methoxyresorufin *O*-demethylation (MROD) (Zamaratskaia & Zlabek, 2009). Phenacetin is metabolized to paracetamol (a mild analgestic) in humans and is a typical probe substrate for human CYP1A (Bourrié *et al.*, 1996). The catalytic activities of CYP1A-mediated EROD,

MROD and phenacetin O-deethylation in human and porcine, is illustrated in **Table 2**.

Table 2. The catalytic activities of CYP1A in human (H) and porcine (P) microsomes are estimated using different common substrates. Results are presented in units used in the original references.

| Microsomal CYP1A | | | | | | | | |
|--|-------------------|--------------------------------------|---------------------------------|--|--|--|--|--|
| Substrate | Reaction | Specie | Catalytic activity | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | |
| Ethoxyresorufin | O- deethylation H | | 190 pmol/min/nmol ¹ | | | | | |
| | O- deethylation P | | 27.3 pmol/min/nmol ¹ | | | | | |
| | O- deethylation | Н | 851 pmol/min/mg ² | | | | | |
| | O-deethylation H | | 70 pmol/min/mg ⁴ | | | | | |
| | O-deethylation | ation H 300 pmol/min/mg ⁴ | | | | | | |
| Mehthoxyresorufin O-demethylation P 0.8 pmol/n | | 0.8 pmol/min/mg ³ | | | | | | |
| PhenacetinO-deethylationH6800 pm | | 6800 pmol/min/mg 4 | | | | | | |

¹Anzenbacher *et al.*, 1997, ²Zlabek & Zamaratzkaia, 2012, ³Zamaratskaia & Zlabek, 2009, ⁴Bourrié *et al.*, 1996

СҮРЗА

BFC (7-benzyloxy-4-trifluoromethylcoumarin) O-debenzylation to HFC (7-hydroxy-4-triflouromethylcoumarin) is mediated by CYP3A in both human (Hansen & Nilsen, 2008) and porcine microsomes (Tomankova *et al.*, 2012; Zamaratskaia *et al.*, 2012). In pigs, BFC is used as a probe substrate for CYP3A activity (Zamaratskaia *et al.*, 2012; Tomankova *et al.*, 2012). However, it is still not known if CYP3A29 and CYP3A39 are the main isoforms mediating BFC metabolism. In pigs, CYP3A differed between Landrace and Duroc pigs (Zamaratskaia *et al.*, 2012). Zatosetron (Ring *et al.*, 1994) and nifedipine (Anzenbacher *et al.*, 1997) are both metabolized by CYP3A in human. The catalytic rate at which nifedipine is metabolized in human is almost identical to minipig (Anzenbacher *et al.*, 1997). Testosterone 6β-hydroxylation is catalyzed in human and porcine microsomes by CYP3A in a similar manner, suggesting that testosterone can be used as a probe substrate to estimate both human and porcine CYP3A activity (Anzenbacher *et al.*, 1997). Catalytic rates of CYP3A-mediated BFC, nifedipine, zatosetrone and testosterone metabolism in human and porcine, is presented in **Table 3**. **Table 3.** Common substrates to estimate microsomal CYP3A catalytic activities are estimated using common substrates, such as BFC (7-benzyloxy-4-trifluoromethylcouarin), nifedipine, zatosetron and testosterone, in human (H) and porcine (P) microsomes. Results are presented in units used in the original references.

P-Lan= porcine landrace, **P-Dur**= porcine Duroc=, **P-cross**= porcine cross-breed, **Pmini**= porcine minipig.

| Microsomal CYP3A | | | | | | | |
|------------------|------------------|---------|---|--|--|--|--|
| Substrate | Reaction | Species | Catalytic activity | | | | |
| BEC | O debenzylation | Doross | 25.1 pmol/min/mg.product ¹ | | | | |
| Brt | O-debenzylation | F-CI088 | 55.1 phol/him/hig product | | | | |
| | O-debenzylation | P-Lan | 334 pmol/min/mg ² | | | | |
| | O-debenzylation | P-Dur | 275 pmol/min/mg ² | | | | |
| Nifedipine | Oxidation | Н | 2205 pmol/product/min/nmol ³ | | | | |
| | Oxidation | Pmini | 2193 pmol/product/min/nmol ³ | | | | |
| Zatosetron | N-oxidation | Н | 1790 pmol product/min/mg protein ⁴ | | | | |
| Testosterone | 6β-hydroxylation | Н | 1340 pmol/product/min/nmol ³ | | | | |
| | 6β-hydroxylation | Р | 1330 pmol/product/min/nmol ³ | | | | |

¹Tomankova et al., 2012, ²Zamaratskaia et al., 2012, ³Anzenbacher et al., 1997, ⁴ Ring et al., 1994

2.5 Inhibition of CYP450

There are several mechanisms of inhibition and, some inhibitors may demonstrate more than one type of inhibition (Thummel & Wilkinson, 1998). Generally, *in vitro* studies, of CYP450 are carried out using a probe substrate to measure and quantify the inhibition over a range of substrate and inhibitor concentrations (Thummel & Wilkonson, 1998). Most CYP450 follow Michaelis-Menten kinetics, showing a hyperbolic curve when the initial velocity, V_0 is studied as a function of product formation (Berg *et al.*, 2007, 216-228; Thummel & Wilkinson, 1998). To investigate the reversibility of inhibition, a pre-incubation of microsomes with inhibitor before addition of a probe substrate is usually used (Thummell & Wilkinson, 1998). An increase of inhibition degree after inclusion of a pre-incubation step, suggests irreversibility, meaning that the enzyme-substrate complex does not dissociate, whereas the degree of reversible inhibition is not affected by pre-incubation and then, the enzyme and substrate complex dissociates rapidly (Thummel & Wilkinson, 1998). Due to a huge number of reactions catalyzed by CYP1A and CYP3A, inhibition of these isoforms by dietary components may result in alterations in essential physiological processes (Bushra *et al.*, 2011). This underlines the importance of dietary components and hepatic metabolism (Bushra *et al.*, 2011).

2.5.1 Irreversible inhibition

Irreversible inhibition is also called mechanism based or suicide inactivation, and causes permanent reduction in enzyme activity (Thummel & Wilkinson, 1998). The concentration of the inhibitor, needed to decrease the activity of the enzyme by 50% (IC50) is used as a characteristic measure, enabling comparisons between different inhibitors (Thummel & Wilkinson, 1998).

Examples of irreversible inhibitors found in food is e.g. the grapefruit constituent 6',7'-dihydroxybergamottin (furanocoumarin) which markedly inhibits metabolism of CYP3A substrates, both *in vitro* and *in vivo* (Edwards *et al.*, 1996; Thummel & Wilkinson, 1998). Grapefruit juice itself which is a well-known irreversible inhibitor of CYP3A activity (Seden *et al.* 2010; Hanley *et al.*, 2012). Several steroids also inhibited (inactivated) CYP3A activity in human, irreversibly (Thummel & Wilkinson, 1998) and in pig (Rasmussen *et al.*, 2011; Zamaratskaia *et al.*, 2012).

2.5.2 Reversible inhibition

If the degree of inhibition is unaffected by inclusion of a pre-incubation step, then the inhibition is considered to be reversible and the mode (mechanism) of inhibition may be further determined (competitive-, uncompetitive-, noncompetitive or mixed) using several substrate concentrations (Thummel & Wilkinson, 1998).

Competitive inhibitors have a higher affinity to the enzyme than to the enzymesubstrate complex and, as more substrate is added, the inhibition will be overcome, why these inhibitors will be recognized by increased KM (substrate concentration that yield a half-maximal velocity) and unchanged Vmax (maximum velocity) (Berg *et al.*, 2007, 216-228).

Non-competitive inhibitors can bind to the enzyme simultaneously as the enzyme as the substrate, but at different sites, and are being recognized by a decreased Vmax and unchanged KM (Berg *et al.*, 2007, 216-228).

Uncompetitive inhibitors have higher affinity to the enzyme-substrate complex than to the enzyme (Berg *et al.*, 2007, 216-228). Some typical chemical inhibitors of CYP1A and CYP3A are listed in **Table 4**.

The inhibition constant is also called dissociation constant (Ki) and is the binding affinity of the reversible inhibitor, indicating the potency of the inhibitor (Berg *et*

al., 2007, 226). The most potent reversible inhibitors have Ki-values under 1µM (Thummel & Wilkinson, 1998). Examples of potent reversible inhibitors include azole antifungal agents (e.g. ketoconazole) and HIV protease inhibitors (Thummel & Wilkinson, 1998). Reversible inhibition by blueberry juice (BBJ) was recently demonstrated, which inhibited CYP3A triazolam- (sedative-hypnotics) and buspirone (anti-anxiety medicine) metabolism in human liver microsomes *in vitro* (Hanley *et al.*, 2012). Pre-incubation did not substantially enhance the degree of inhibition, indicating a reversible mode of inhibition (Hanley *et al.*, 2012). The same blueberry juice, in a human intervention, changed the metabolic pattern of major drug metabolizing enzymes (CYP450) in the liver (Hanley *et al.*, 2012). The active components in the blueberry juice were never examined (Hanley *et al.*, 2012).

The concentration of the inhibitor [I] relative to its inhibition constant *in vitro* Ki, that is [I]/Ki ratio is used to estimate the degree of inhibition (Thummel & Wilkins, 1998; Ito *et al.*, 2002). Ki values above 75-100 μ M is usually not physiologically relevant inhibitors (Thummel & Wilkinson, 1998).

Table 4. Chemical *in vitro* inhibitors of CYP1A and 3A in human (H), porcine (P) and mice (M). --- indicates no inhibition.

aNF =a-napthoflavone, FUR =furafylline, KET =ketoconazole, 7β est = 7β -estradiol, TAO =triacetyloleandomycin, DBM =6',7'-dihydroxybergamottin, PHE =phenacetin, EROD =7-ethoxyresorufin Odeethylation, BROD =7-benzyloxresorufin, BFC =7-benzyloxy-4-trifluorometylcoumarin, MID =midazolam 1'-hydroxylation, NIF= nifedipine oxidation, TST =testosterone 6 β -hydroxylation

| | Inhibi- | | Specie | IC50 | Ki | |
|--------|---------|-------------------|----------|-----------------|------------|------------------------------|
| CYP450 | tor | Reaction | /Sex | (μM) | (μM) | Mechanism |
| 1A | aNF | PHE ⁵ | Н | | 0.0135 | Competitive ⁵ |
| | FUR | PHE^{1} | Н | 4,71 | | competitive ¹ |
| | КЕТ | PHE^{1} | Н | ~31 | | competitive ¹ |
| | | EROD ³ | Р | | | 3 |
| | | BROD ³ | P/male | | 10.4^{3} | non-competitive ³ |
| | | BROD ³ | P/female | | 14.2^{3} | non-competitive ³ |
| 3A | | BFC^4 | Р | | | non-competitive4 |
| | | BFC ⁸ | Н | 0.1^{8} | | |
| | | MID ⁶ | Н | | 14.9^{6} | non-competitive6 |
| | 7βest | BFC^4 | Р | | | irreversible ⁴ |
| | TAO | NIF^7 | Н | | | inhibition ⁷ |
| | | NIF ⁷ | Р | | | inhibition ⁷ |
| | DBM | TST^2 | М | 25 ² | | Irreversible ² |

¹Bourrié *et al.*, 1996, ²Edwards *et al.*, 1996, ³Zlabek & Zamaratzkaia, 2012, ⁴Zamaratskaia *et al.*, 2012, ⁵von Moltke *et al.*, 1996, ⁶Gibbs *et al.*, 1999, ⁷Anzenbacher *et al.*, 1997

2.6 CYP450 inhibition by flavonoids

In general, flavonoids are *inter alia* characterized as potential enzyme inhibitors and, due to their wide distribution in plant food their role as potential CYP450 inhibitors makes them important for evaluating FDI (Di Carlo *et al.*, 1999). Several reports have demonstrated that a variety of flavonoids may interact with CYP450-mediated drug metabolism, by inhibiting CYP450 activity in the liver of humans and animals (Tsyrlov *et al.*, 1994; Obach *et al.*, 2000; von Moltke *et al.*, 2012; Chaudhary & Willett, 2006; Kimura *et al.*, 2010; Ring *et al.*, 1994; Ho *et al.*, 2001; Obach *et al.*, 2000; von Moltke *et al.*, 2012).

The bioactivity of several flavonols might include interactions with CYP450 (Bushra *et al.*, 2011). Thus, a simultaneous intake of drugs and flavonols may result in food-drug interactions such as inhibition (Breinholt *et al.*, 2002).

The structure of flavonols is a crucial factor for determining its effect on CYP450 activity (Ho & Saville, 2001). The strength of inhibition of CYP450 by flavonols differs depending on number and location of hydroxyl groups of the flavonol skeleton (Breinholt *et al.*, 2002). In liver microsomes, flavonols, such as kaempferol is 3'-hydroxylated and tamarixetin is 4'-demethylated to quercetin (Breinholt *et al.*, 2002). This metabolism was strongly inhibited by the CYP1A inhibitor (and drug) fluvoxamine (kaempferol: IC50=1.2 μ M and tamarixetin: IC50=1.4 μ M), suggesting that flavonoids and drugs are metabolized by the same CYP450 enzymes (Breinholt *et al.*, 2002).

The location as well as the number of hydroxyl groups on the flavonoid skeleton may play a crucial role for the CYP450 inhibition potency of specific flavonols (Ho *et al.*, 2001).

2.6.1 CYP1A inhibitors

Quercetin was shown to inhibit CYP1A activities estimated as EROD and MROD activity in human microsomes (Tsyrlov *et al.*, 1994). In the same human microsomes, the potency of quercetin to inhibit MROD (IC50=0.4 μ M) was high compared to EROD (IC50=4.1 μ M) (Tsyrlov *et al.*, 1994). In mice microsomes, the same inhibition pattern was observed, indicating that the potencies of quercetin to inhibit EROD and MROD are comparable between human and mice microsomal CYP1A (Tsyrlov *et al.*, 1994). As a component of St. John's wort, quercetin inhibited EROD activity in supersomal human recombinant CYP1A with Ki =0.2 μ M and IC50=6.0 μ M (Chaudhary & Willett, 2006). Kinetic studies, using phenacetin as a substrate, demonstrated that PHE was non-competitively inhibited (Ki =3.3 μ M, IC50=

<10 μ M) by 10 μ M quercetin, in recombinant, microsomal CYP1A (Obach, 2000). As a component found in Ginkgo biloba, quercetin was studied in hepatic microsomes, donated from two humans and, phenacetin to paracetamol was inhibited, with IC50=3.0 μ M (Moltke *et al.* (2012). Summary of CYP1A inhibitors are presented in **Table 5**.

Table 5. CYP1A inhibition by flavonols. Summary of studies presenting *in vitro* inhibition of human c-DNA derived CYP1A (H/cDNA) activity, in human microsomal CYP1A (H/mcs), in human recombinant CYP1A (H/r-mcs) and mice (M) by flavonols.

| СҮРІА | | | | | | | |
|-----------|------------------------|----------------------|-------------------|-------------------|------------------|------------------------------|--|
| Inhi | bitor | Organism/ | Sub- | Kinetic | | | |
| Flavonol | Conc. | enzyme | strate | IC50 | Ki | Mode of | |
| | | source | | (μM) | (μM) | inhibition | |
| | | | | | | | |
| Quercetin | $0-25\mu M^1$ | H/c-DNA ¹ | EROD ¹ | 41.1^{1} | | inhib ¹ | |
| | $0-25\mu M^1$ | M/c-DNA1 | EROD ¹ | 20.3^{1} | | inhib ¹ | |
| | $0-25\mu M^1$ | H/c-DNA ¹ | MROD ¹ | 0.4^{1} | | inhib ¹ | |
| | $0-25\mu M^1$ | M/c-DNA1 | MROD ¹ | 29.1^{1} | | inhib ¹ | |
| | a.u. | H/r-mcs ² | PHE ² | $< 10^{2}$ | 3.3 ² | non-competitive ² | |
| | $< 10 \mu g/ml^3$ | H/mcs ³ | PHE ³ | 3.0 ³ | | inhib ³ | |
| | $0.1 10 \mu M^4$ | H/r-mcs ⁴ | $EROD^4$ | 6.0^{4} | 0.25^{4} | inhib ⁴ | |
| Myricetin | $0.1\text{-}10\mu M^4$ | H/r-mcs ⁴ | $EROD^4$ | 344 | 1.4^{4} | inhib ⁴ | |
| Rutin | $0.1-10\mu M^4$ | H/r-mcs ⁴ | $EROD^4$ | N.I. ⁴ | $N.I.^4$ | n.i. ⁴ | |

EROD =7-ethoxyresorufin *O*- deethylation, **MROD**= methoxyresorufin O-deethylation, **PHE**= phenacetin *O*-deethylation, **inhib**= inhibition, **n.i.**= indicates no inhibition, a.u.= arbitrary units

¹Tsyrlov et al., 1994, ²Obach et al., 2000, ³ von Moltke et al., 2012, ⁴Chaudhary & Willett, 2006

Myricetin inhibited EROD activity in supersomal recombinant human CYP1A, with Ki= 1.4μ M and IC50= 34μ M (Chaudhary & Willett, 2006).

The potency of isorhamnetin to inhibit CYP1A2 was strongly reduced by steric collisions in its way, suggesting that isorhamnetin not fit well into the hydrophobic pocket (active site) of CYP1A2 (Takemura *et al.*, 2010). For strong CYP1 inhibition to occur flavonoids require a 2-3 double bonds on the C-ring (Takemura *et al.*, 2010).

Rutin (10 μ M) did not inhibit CYP1A1 in human microsomes (Chaudhary & Willett, 2006).

2.6.2 CYP3A inhibitors

Quercetin inhibited CYP3A-mediated triazolam hydroxylation (Moltke *et al.*, 2010), zatosetron N-oxidation (Ring *et al.*, 2004) and quinine 3-hydroxylation (Ho *et al.*, 2001) in human microsomes. Quercetin from grapefruit, inhibited 55-60% (30-45% activity remaining) of CYP3A-mediated quinine 3-hydroxylation, in two human donors, with IC50 values of 82 μ M and 41 μ M (Ho *et al.*, 2001). The potency of quercetin to inhibit CYP3A-mediated triazolam hydroxylation (IC50=4.1 μ M) (von Moltke *et al.*, 2010) was higher than its potency to inhibit CYP3A-mediated zatosetron oxidation (Ki=13.6 μ M) (Ring *et al.*, 2004). The inhibition mode of CYP3A-mediated zatosetron oxidation, by quercetin was uncompetitive (Ring *et al.*, 2004). Quercetin inhibited human recombinant CYP3A testosterone 6 β -hydroxylation, (IC50= 22.1 μ M) (Kimura *et al.*, 2010) more potently than CYP3A phenacetin O-deethylation, IC50=82 μ M (Obach *et al.*, 2000).

Myricetin (aglycon) inhibited CYP3A-mediated triazolam hydroxylation, with an IC50 value of 6.4 μ M (von Moltke *et al.*, 2012). When different concentrations (10-200 μ M) of myricetin was studied, 78-94% of CYP3A quinine 3-hydroxylation (22-6% remaining) was inhibited, which was more than by quercetin but, the IC50 value could not be calculated (Ho & Saville, 2001). Kinetic studies of CYP3A-mediated testosterone hydroxylation demonstrated approximately 70% irreversible inhibition (~30% activity remaining) by myricetin, with a Ki value of 44.5 μ M (Kimura *et al.*, 2010).

Isorhamnetin inhibited testosterone hydroxylation ($\geq 80\%$ inhibition and $\geq 20\%$ remaining) more than myricetin and less than quercetin (Kimura *et al.*, 2010)

CYP3A-mediated quinine 3-hydroxylation was not inhibited by rutin at low and medium concentrations but, a modest inhibition was observed at high concentrations (Ho & Saville, 2010) and, no significant inhibition of CYP3A-mediated testosterone hydroxylation was observed (Kimura *et al.*, 2010). A summary of CYP3A inhibitors is presented in **Table 6**.

The potency of flavonols to inhibit CYP3A quinine 3-hydroxylation increased by increased number of hydroxyl substituents on the flavonol seleton (Ho *et al.*, 2001). Myricetin, with 6 OH-groups was found to be the most potent inhibitor of CYP3A quinine 3-hydroxylation, while quercetin with 5 hydroxyl groups was the second most potent and, rutin with 4 hydroxyl groups was found to have least potency (Ho *et al.*, 2001). Presence of hydroxyl groups at the R4 position on the B ring (as quercetin have), specifically enhanced the inhibition potency (Ho *et al.*, 2001).

It should be emphasized that the concentrations of flavonoids tested in *in vitro* studies were likely higher than typical bioavailable concentrations in humans. Thus, the results should be interpreted with caution.

Table 6. CYP3A inhibition by flavonols. Summary of studies presenting *in vitro* inhibition of human microsomal CYP3A (H/mcs) and in human recombinant CYP3A (H/r-mcs) by flavonols.

| СҮРЗА | | | | | | | |
|--------------|-----------------------|----------------------|------------------|-------------------|------------------|----------------------------|--|
| Inhi | bitor | Organism/ | Sub- | Kin | etic | | |
| Flavonol | Conc. | enzyme | strate | Ki | IC50 | Inhibition (mode) | |
| | | source | | μM | μM | | |
| | | | | | | | |
| Quercetin | $12.5 - 100 \mu M^2$ | H/mcs ² | ZAT^2 | 13.6 ² | | Uncompetitive ² | |
| | $10-200 \mu M^3$ | H/mcs ³ | QUI ³ | | 41 ³ | Inhib. ³ | |
| | $10-200 \mu M^3$ | H/mcs ³ | QUI ³ | | 82 ³ | Inhib. ³ | |
| | 9.9µM⁵ | H/mcs ⁵ | TRI ⁵ | | 4.1 ⁵ | Inhib. ⁵ | |
| | $100 \mu M^1$ | H/r-mcs ¹ | TST^1 | | 22.1^{1} | Inhib.1 | |
| Myricetin | 10-200µM ³ | H/mcs ³ | QUI ³ | | n.d. | Inhib. ³ | |
| | 9.9µM⁵ | H/mcs ⁵ | TRI ⁵ | | 6.4 ⁵ | Inhib. ⁵ | |
| | $100 \mu M^1$ | H/r-mcs ¹ | TST^1 | 44.5^{1} | | Inhib. ¹ | |
| Isorhamnetin | $100 \mu M^1$ | H/r-mcs ¹ | TST^1 | 16.6^{1} | | Inhib. ¹ | |
| Rutin | $100 \mu M^1$ | H/r-mcs ¹ | TST^1 | - | - | No inhib. ¹ | |
| | $10-200 \mu M^3$ | H/mcs ³ | QUI ³ | - | - | No-modest inhib.3 | |

| ZAT =zatosetron N-oxidation, | QUI =quinine 3-hydroxylation, | ${\bf TRI}=\!\!{\rm triazolamhydroxylation},$ | TST= testosterone |
|--|-------------------------------|---|-------------------|
| 6β -hydroxylase, n.d. =not detected | | | |

¹ Kimura et al., 2010, ² Ring et al., 1994, ³Ho et al., 2001, ⁴, ⁵ von Moltke et al., 2012

3 Material & Method

3.1 Chemicals

Nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate reduced form (NADPH), 7-benzyloxy-4-triflouromethylcoumarin (BFC; CYP3A substrate), 7-hydroxy-4-triflouromethylcoumarin (HFC; product of BFC metabolism), 7-ethoxyresorufin (CYP1A substrate), resorufin (product of 7-ethoxyresorufin metabolism), rutin, myricetin, quercitin, isohamnetin, p-coumaric acid, gallic acid and caffeic acid (inhibitors) were obtained from Sigma-Aldrich (Steinheim, Germany). Methanol and acetonitrile of HPLC grade were obtained from Merk (Darmstadt, Germany).

3.2 Study design

The flowchart in **Figure 1** illustrates the design of the experimental process. First, bilberry compounds (one concentration per compound) were evaluated for their ability to inhibit CYP3A and CYP1A activity. If the activities were inhibited by at least 21%, the reversibility of the inhibition was evaluated by the including of a preincubation step. Reversible inhibitors were further analyzed for the inhibition mode using multiply substrate concentrations. The details of analysis, substrate and inhibitor concentrations are described in sections 3.3.



Figure 1. The flow illustrates the design of the experimental process.

3.3 Biochemical analysis

3.3.1 Bilberry extract preparation

The powder of dried bilberry fruits (0.5 mg) was extracted by overnight incubation, at 35°C in 50% methanol and 1-2 M HCl (Häkkinen *et al.* 1998). The mixture then was evaporated to dryness, re-dissolved in 1.5 ml of 100% methanol and filtered before use. Extract was further diluted with 100% methanol to obtain 6 working solutions in a 2000, 200, 20, 8 and 2 dilution of undiluted extract. Working solutions were stored at -80°C. A number of working solution indicates dilution factor from the undiluted extract (undiluted bilberry extract -1, extract diluted 2000 times -2000).

3.3.2 Microsomal preparation

The calcium aggregation method was used for microsomal preparation. Briefly, 2 g liver tissue was homogenized in Tris-EDTA buffer (50 mM Tris-HCl, 150mM Potassium chloride, 2 mM EDTA, pH 7.4). The obtained homogenate was diluted with Tris-EDTA buffer containing 8 mM CaCl₂, incubated for 4 minutes and centrifuged at 25.000 x g for 30 minutes at 4° C (Rasmussen *et al.*, 2011). All steps were carried out on ice. The microsomal protein concentration was measured with a commercially available kit (Bio-Rad Laboratories Inc., Hercules, CA, USA) according to the manufacturer's instructions. Microsomes were diluted to a final protein concentration of 10 mg/ml and stored at -80° C until used.

3.3.3 Cytochrome P450 enzymatic assays

CYP1A activity. A stock solution in resorufin was prepared in 100% methanol. Standard curves were constructed using resorufin in a concentration range from 0.05 to 5 pmol/ml in the mixture of 50 mM potassium phosphate buffer, pH 7.4:methanol (1:1) in duplicate. CYP1A activity was assessed by incubating 0.20 mg/ml of microsomal proteins with NADPH at a concentration of 0.5 mM and the substrate, 7-ethoxyreorufin at a concentration of 2 μ M. After 5 minutes incubation in a waterbath at 37° C, the reaction was terminated by 500 μ l of ice-cold methanol, followed by centrifugation at 7500 x g for 10 minutes. The supernatants were analyzed with HPLC. HPLC conditions used were: isocratic mobile phase: 20 mM phosphate

buffer pH 6.8:methanol:acetonitrile (52:45:3), flowrate: 1.0 ml/minute, fluorescence detector of 560 and 586 nm (excitation and emission), injection volume: 10μ l and run time 3 minutes. CYP1A activity is reported as picomoles of resorufin formed per minute per milligram of microsomal protein.

CYP3A activity. A stock solution HFC was prepared in 100 % methanol. Known amounts of HFC in a range of 2 to 2000 pmol/ml were added to the mixture of 50 mM potassium phosphate buffer, pH 7.4:methanol (1:1) in duplicate. CYP3A activity was assessed by incubating 0.25 mg/ml of microsomal proteins with NADPH at a concentration of 0.5 mM and the substrate, BFC at a concentration of 100 μ M. After 10 minutes of incubation in a water bath at 37° C, the reaction was terminated by 500 μ l of ice-cold methanol. The resulting mixtures were centrifuged at 7500 x g for 10 minutes and the supernatants were analyzed with HPLC. HPLC conditions used were: isocratic mobile phase: 20 mM phosphate buffer pH 6.8: methanol: acetonitrile (52:45:3), flowrate: 0.6 mL/min, fluorescence detection at 410 and 538 nm (excitation and emission), injection volume: 10 μ l and run time 8 min. CYP3A activity is reported as picomoles of HFC formed per minute per milligram of microsomal protein.

In both assays, a Hypersil ODS column (3μ m, 60 x 4.6 mm Hewlett-Packard) equipped with a guard column was used.

Inhibition studies were performed using two pools of microsomes from three male pigs in each and, two pools of microsomes from two female pigs in each.

An overview of the assay conditions is presented in Table 7.

| | | Microsomal | | | |
|---------------|------|------------|---------|-----------|--------|
| | Iso- | protein | Incuba- | Substrate | |
| Substrate | form | amount | tion | conc. | NADPH |
| Ethoxyresoru- | 1A | 0.20 mg/ml | 5 min | 2 µM | 0.5 mM |
| fin | | | | | |
| BFC | 3A | 0.25 mg/ml | 10 min | 100µM | 0.5 mM |

Table 7. Assay conditions for CYP1A and CYP3A.

3.3.4 Bilberry extract

Various concentrations of methanol bilberry extract were incubated with microsomes, NADPH and a specific probe substrate (either BFC for CYP3A or 7-ethoxyresorufin for CYP1A). Serial dilutions were prepared by addition of methanol to yield six concentrations of bilberry extract and, the extract concentrations were reported in arbitrary units indicating the dilution of a stock extract (0.5 mg of bilberry powder in 1 ml of methanol). The incubation was allowed to proceed as above described in enzymatic assays.

3.3.5 Individual compounds from bilberry extract

Inhibition of CYP3A and CYP1A activities by following compounds typically found in bilberries: rutin, myricetin, quercetin, isorhamnetin, p-coumaric acid, gallic acid and caffeic acid. First, bilberry compounds (one concentration per compound) were screened for their ability to inhibit CYP3A and CYP1A activity *in vitro*. Solutions were added to eppendorf tubes in the following order and quantity: inhibitor (16 μ M in final incubation volume), freshly pre-mixed incubation buffer, substrate and NADPH; the reaction was initiated by addition of microsomal protein. The final concentration of methanol was 0.1% in the incubation volumes. The same amount of methanol was added to the control incubations. Percentage of inhibitor, 100%) and the incubations in the presence of inhibitor. A control activity without addition of inhibitor was assessed within each assay. The activity was regarded as inhibited if it differed from the control activity by at least 21%.

3.3.6 Enzyme inhibition kinetics

The compounds, showing ability to inhibit either CYP3A or CYP1A, were further tested using 3 concentrations (16, 32 and 128 μ M). The incubations were performed with and without inclusion of pre-incubation step (5 min before addition of substrate) in order to assess reversibility of inhibition. If inhibition degree increased after inclusion of a pre-incubation step, the inhibition was considered as irreversible and 50% inhibition of enzyme activity (IC₅₀ value) was determined. If inhibition degree was not affected by inclusion of pre-incubation step, the inhibition was considered as reversible and mode of inhibition was further determined by kinetic analysis using several substrate concentrations. CYP3A activity was determined at BFC concentrations from 0.1 to 150 μ M and CYP1A activity was determined at 7-ethoxyresorufin concentrations from 0.1 to 4 μ M.

The incubations were processed as described in enzymatic assays section. All measurements were performed in duplicate.

3.4 Statistical analysis

The inhibition mode (competitive and non-competitive) and inhibition constants (Ki) were determined with GraphPad Prism version 4.0 for Windows, GraphPad Software (San Diego, California, USA). The choice of the best-fit enzyme model was based on F-test.

Enzyme activities were considered as altered when inhibition degree exceeded 20%. No further statistical analysis (p-values) were performed to avoid false positive results due to low intra-assay variations.

4 Results

4.1 CYP450 activity in the presence of bilberry

Inhibition by bilberry extract on CYP450 activity

The undiluted bilberry extract (**Figure 2**) markedly modified the activity of the CYP450 isoform 1A in male (remaining activity varied from 61.2 to 64.9%) but not in female pigs. The dilution of the extract eliminated this inhibition. The activity of CYP3A increased in male and decreased in female pigs in the presence of bilberry extract.

Reversibility of inhibition

Out of the selected compounds (rutin, myricetin, quercetin, isorhamnetin, p-coumaric acid, gallic acid and caffeic acid, only myricetin, quercetin and isorhamnetin showed potential to inhibit CYP450 activity by at least 21% (remaining CYP450 activity below 79%)(**Figure 3**).

Myricetin and isorhmnetin reversibly inhibited CYP1A- and CYP3A-activity (degree of inhibition was not affected by inclusion of pre-incubation step) in the microsomes from both male and female pigs (**Figure 4**). Inhibition of CYP1A by quercetin exhibited gender-specific pattern being reversible in the microsomes from male, and irreversible in the microsomes from female pigs.

Inhibition mode and Ki values

CYP1A activity was competitively inhibited by myricetin and isorhamnetin in both male and female pigs. Both inhibitors expressed higher potential to alter CYP1A activity in female pigs as indicated by lower Ki values. Quercetin competitively inhibited CYP1A activity in male pigs, while in female pigs quercetin acted as an irreversible inhibitor, with an IC50 value of 1.3 μ M (Figure 5).

Myricetin non-competitively inhibited CYP3A activity in the microsomes from male but not female pigs. Isorhamnetin competitively inhibited CYP3A in both male and female microsomes, although Ki value was somewhat lower in male compared to female pigs (71.2 vs. 93.7 μ M, respectively) (**Figure 6**).

The results from kinetic measurements are summarized in Table 8.



Figure 2. Inhibition by bilberry extract, diluted (arbitrary units), with the most dilute. A) CYP1A activity and B) CYP3A activity, in the presence of bilberry extract.







Figure 4. Reversibility, A) CYP1A in the presence of myricetin, isorhamnetin and quercetin and B) CYP3A in the presence of myricetin and isorhamnetin



Figure 5. CYP1A saturation curve, EROD.



Figure 6. CYP3A (BFC) saturation curve.

Tabel 8. Mechanism of inhibition of specific CYP450 isoforms by myricetin, isorhamnetin and quercetin in porcine liver microsomes.

| | Individual phe- | Sex | Ki | IC ₅₀ | Mode of inhibition |
|-----|-----------------|--------|-------|------------------|--------------------|
| СҮР | nolic compound | (pigs) | (µM) | (µM) | |
| 1A | Quercetin | М | 0.2 | | Competitive |
| | | F | | 1.3 | Irreversible |
| | Myricetin | М | 2.5 | | Competitive |
| | | F | 4.6 | | Competitive |
| | Isorhamnetin | М | 99.9 | | Competitive |
| | | F | 10.8 | | Competitive |
| 3A | Myricetin | М | 112.7 | | Non-competitive |
| | | F | | | No inhibition |
| | Isorhamnetin | М | 71.2 | | Competitive |
| | | F | 93.7 | | Competitive |

M=male, F=female

Discussion

5

CYP450 is involved in the metabolism of various endogenous and xenobiotic compounds; thus, inhibition of individual isoforms by dietary components may have undesirable and even harmful effects on essential physiological processes. Additionally, such inhibition might alter metabolism of drugs. Thus, the effect of food components on CYP450 might be carefully studied.

Previous studies demonstrated that several dietary phenolic compounds, such as quercetin, myricetin and isorhamnetin have potencies to inhibit activities of some CYP450 isoforms in human, rat and mice at concentrations in the range 8-200µM.

The concentrations of the inhibitors in the present study (16 μ M or 8 μ M in the incubation volume of 500 μ l) corresponded to the concentration of quercetin measured in the liver of pig fed a single quercetin dose (25 mg/kg) (Bieger *et al.*, 2008). In the kinetic analysis, higher inhibitor concentrations were also included (32 and 128 μ M) to increase the accuracy in Ki estimation.

The present study was designed to elucidate potential inhibition of CYP1A and CYP3A by several phenolic compounds, in porcine hepatic microsomes. Hepatic microsomes from male and female pigs were used in the study. It was recently suggested that interactions between CYP450 and xenobiotic compounds may differ between male and female (Rasmussen *et al.*, 2011). Moreover, *in vitro* CYP3E activities were inhibited by 17 β oestradiol in the microsomes from male but not from female pigs (Zamaratskaia *et al.*, 2007; Rasmussen *et al.*, 2011).

The present results provide further evidence on gender-related regulation of CYP450. First, bilberry extract affected CYP1A and CYP3A activities different in male and female pigs. CYP1A activity was lower in the presence of bilberry extract only in male and, CYP3A only in female pigs. Further analysis using individual component confirmed gender-related differences.

Quercetin was a potent competitive inhibitor of CYP1A in male pigs and, irreversible inhibitor in female pigs. The gender-related pattern of CYP1A inhibition by quercetin might explain overall inhibition of male CYP1A by bilberry extract. Human CYP1A measured as EROD activity was also inhibited by quercetin (Tsyrlov *et al.*, 1994) even though the inhibition was more potent in porcine than in human.

Isorhamnetin and myricetin inhibited CYP1A in the microsomes of both male and female pigs. Present findings are in line with those on recombinant CYP1B1 and CYP1A1 (Chaudhary & Willet, 2006), in which myricetin and quercetin were identified as inhibitors of EROD. Chaudhary & Willet (2006) did not, however, evaluate the mode of inhibition.

Quercetin is a well-known inhibitor of human CYP3A. The CYP3A-mediated biotransformation of many drugs, i.e. zatosetron (Ring *et al.*, 1994), quinidine (Ho *et al.*, 2001), triazolam and testosterone (Kimura *et al.*, 2010; von Moltke *et al.*, 2004; Obach, 2000) were inhibited by quercetin in humans. The known *in vivo* interaction between grapefruit juice and the drug nifedipine, in humans is believed to be at least partly due to the presence of quercetin in grapefruit juice (Ho *et al.*, 2001). Interestingly, CYP3A-mediated BFC metabolism was not inhibited by quercetin in pig. This implies specie-related differences in food/feed-drug interactions. More studies are needed to investigate the effect of quercetin on porcine CYP3A activity. In such studies, several substrates for CYP3A should be included.

The potency of myricetin to inhibit CYP3A activity in male pigs (no inhibition in female pigs) was weak, compared to its potency to inhibit CYP1A EROD. Other metabolic reactions that are inhibited by myricetin, includes human CYP3A-mediated metabolism of the drugs triazolam (Moltke *et al.*, 2012), quinidine (Ho *et al.*, 2001) and testosterone (Kimura *et al.*, 2010).

In human microsomes, rutin inhibited CYP3A-mediated metabolism of steroids such as testosterone as well as the drugs quinidine (Ring *et al.* 1994). In this study, no inhibition by rutin was observed.

Phenolic acids, used in the present study did not modify either CYP1A or CYP3A activities. Previous findings suggested that some phenolic acids are metabolized by CYP450 (Martignoni *et al.*, 2006). In this case, the competitive inhibition of CYP450 substrate metabolism would be expected. However, no inhibition was observed. More studies are needed to identify the role of phenolic acids in the regulation of CYP450 activity.

The risks for berry component-drug interactions are not yet well documented. Further research is needed to assess the degree and mode of possible interactions. In such research, both in vivo and in vitro studies need to be included. Gender-related differences in CYP450 activity observed in the present and previous studies (Kojima & Degawa, 2013; Rasmussen *et al.*, 2012; Rasmussen *et al.*, 2011; Skaanild & Friis, 1999) should be taken into account when designing future studies on inter-actions between food/feed components and CYP450 activity.

The results from the present study contribute to further understanding on the interactions between the dietary phenolic components, quercetin, myricetin and isorhamnetin and, CYP450-mediated metabolism. Further investigations are needed to determine physiological significance of this inhibition and its relevance for fooddrug interactions in humans.

6 Conclusions

The study suggests that individual components in bilberry fruits have an inhibitory effect on CYP1A and CYP3A activity. The mode and degree of this inhibition differed between male and female. Further research is needed to elucidate exact mechanism and physiological significance of the interaction between phenolic compounds and CYP450-mediated hepatic metabolism.

7 References

- Achour, B., Barber, J. & Rostami-Hodjegan, A. (2011). Cytochrome P450 Pig Liver Pie: Determination of Individual Cytochrome P450 Isoform Contents in Microsomes from Two Pig Livers Using Liquid Chromatography in Conjunction with Mass Spectroscopy. Drug Metab. Dispos. 39(11), 2130-2134.
- Akerstrom, A., Jaakola, L., Bang, U. & Jaderlund, A. (2010). Effects of Latitude-Related Factors and Geographical Origin on Anthocyanidin Concentrations in Fruits of Vaccinium myrtillus L. (Bilberries). Effects of Latitude-Related Factors and Geographical Origin on Anthocyanidin Concentrations in Fruits of Vaccinium myrtillus L. (Bilberries) 24(22), 11939-11945.
- Anzenbacher, P., Anzenbacherova, E., Zuber, R., Soucek, P. & Guengerich, F.P. (2002). Pig and minipig cytochromes P450. *Drug Metabolism and Disposition* 30(1), 100-100.
- Anzenbacher, P., Soucek, P., Anzenbacherova, E., Gut, I., Hruby, K., Svoboda, Z. & Kvetina, J. (1998). Presence and activity of cytochrome P450 isoforms in minipig liver microsomes - Comparison with human liver samples. *Drug Metabolism and Disposition* 26(1), 56-59.
- Anzenbacherova, E., Anzenbacher, P., Svoboda, Z., Ulrichova, J., Kvetina, J., Zoulova, J., Perlik, F. & Martinkova, J. (2003). Minipig as a model for drug metabolism in man: comparison of in vitro and in vivo metabolism of propafenone. *Biomedical papers of the Medical Faculty of the University Palacky, Olomouc, Czechoslovakia* 147(2), 155-9.
- Bambal, R.B. & Clarke, S.E. (2010). Cytochrome P450: Structure, Function, and Application in Drug Discovery and Development. Han, C. & Davis, C. B. & Wang, B. (ed.). In Evaluation of Drug Candidates for Preclinical Development: Pharmacokinetics, Metabolism, Pharmaceuticals, and Toxicology, 67-120. Hoboken: John Wiley & Sons.
- Barizza, E., Guzzo, F., Fanton, P., Lucchini, G., Sacchi, G.A., Lo Schiavo, F. & Nascimbene, J. (2013). Nutritional profile and productivity of bilberry (Vaccinium myrtillus L.) in different habitats of a protected area of the Eastern Italian Alps. *Journal of Food Science* 78(5), C673-C678.
- Basu, A., Rhone, M. & Lyons, T.J. (2010). Berries: emerging impact on cardiovascular health. *Nutrition Reviews* 3, 168-177.
- Berg, J.M., Tymosczko, J.L. & Stryer, L. (2007). *Biochemistry* 6th ed. New York: W. H. Freeman Company.
- Biedermann, L., Mwinyi, J., Scharl, M., Frei, P., Zeitz, J., Kullak-Ublick, G.A., Vavricka, S.R.,
 Fried, M., Weber, A., Humpf, H.U., Peschke, S., Jetter, A., Krammer, G. & Rogler,
 G. (2013). Bilberry ingestion improves disease activity in mild to moderate ulcerative colitis An open pilot study. *Journal of Crohns & Colitis* 7(4), 271-279.
- Bieger, J., Cermak, R., Blank, R., de Boer, V.C.J., Hollman, P.C.H., Kamphues, J. & Wolffram, S. (2008). Tissue distribution of quercetin in pigs after long-term dietary supplementation. *Journal of Nutrition* 138(8), 1417-1420.
- Bourrie, M., Meunier, V., Berger, Y. & Fabre, G. (1996). Cytochrome P450 isoform inhibitors as a tool for the investigation of metabolic reactions catalyzed by human liver microsomes. *Journal of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics* 277(1), 321-332.
- Brunius, C., Rasmussen, M.K., Lacoutiere, H., Andersson, K., Ekstrand, B. & Zamaratskaia, G. (2012). Expression and activities of hepatic cytochrome P450 (CYP1A, CYP2A and CYP2E1) in entire and castrated male pigs. *Animal* 6(2), 271-277.
- Bushra, R., Aslam, N. & Khan, A.Y. (2011). Food-drug interactions. *Oman Medical Journal* 26(2), 77-83.
- Canter, P.H. & Ernst, E. (2004). Anthocyanosides of Vaccinium myrtillus (Bilberry) for night vision - A systematic review of placebo-controlled trials. *Survey of Ophthalmology* 49(1), 38-50.
- Chaudhary, A. & Willett, K.L. (2006). Inhibition of human cytochrome CYP1 enzymes by flavonoids of St. John's wort. *Toxicology* 217, 194-205.

- Conquer, J.A., Maiani, G., Azzini, E., Raguzzini, A., Holub, B.J., Holub, B.J. (1998). Supplementation with quercetin markedly increases plasma quecetin concentration without effect on selected risk factors for heart disease in health subjects. *Journal of Nutrition* 128(3), 593-597.
- Di Carlo, G., Mascolo, N., Izzo, A.A. & Capasso, F. (1999). Flavonoids: Old and new aspects of a class of natural therapeutic drugs. *Life Sciences* 64(4), 337-353
- Dresser, G.K., Spence, J.D. & Bailey, D.G. (2000). Pharmacokinetic- pharmacodynamics consequences and clinical relevance of cytochrome P450 3A4 inhibition. *Clinical Pharmacokinetics* 38(1), 41-57.
- Edwards, D.J., Bellevue, F.H. & Woster, P.M. (1996). Identification of 6', 7'- dihydroxybergamottin, a cytochrome p450 inhibitor, in grapefruit juice. *Drug Metabolism and Disposition* 24(12), 1287-1290.
- Gao, M.M., Ma, Y.J. & Liu, D.X. (2013). Rutin suppresses palmitic acids-triggered inflammation in macrophages and blocks high fat diet-induced obesity and fatty liver in mice. *Pharmaceutical Research* 30(11), 2940-2950.
- Garcia-Serna, R. & Mestres, J. (2011). Chemical probes for biological systems. Drug Discovery Today 16(3-4), 99-106.
- Gibbs, M.A., Thummel, K.E., Shen, D.D. & Kunze, K.L. (1999). Inhibition of cytochrome P-450 3A (CYP3A) in human intestinal and liver microsomes: Comparison of K-I values and impact of CYP3A5 expression. *Drug Metabolism and Disposition* 27(2), 180-187.
- Girennavar, B., Poulose, S.M., Jayaprakasha, G.K., Bhat, N.G. & Patil, B.S. (2006). Furocoumarins from grapefruit juice and their effect on human CYP 3A4 and CYP1B1 isoenzymes. *Bioorganic & Medicinal Chemistry* 14(8), 2606-2612.
- Guengerich, F.P. (1997) Comparisons of catalytic selectivity of cytochrome P450 subfamily enzymes from different species. *Chemico-Biological Interactions* 106, 161-181
- Guengerich, F.P. & Shimada, T. (1998). Activation of procarcinogens by human cytochrome P450 enzymes. *Mutation Research-Fundamental and Molecular Mechanisms of Mu*tagenesis 400(1-2), 201-213.
- Hakkinen, S., Heinonen, M., Karenlampi, S., Mykkanen, H., Ruuskanen, J. & Torronen, R. (1999). Screening of selected flavonoids and phenolic acids in 19 berries. *Food Research International* 32(5), 345-353.
- Hanley, M.J., Masse, G., Harmatz, J.S., Cancalon, P.F., Dolnikowski, G.G., Court, M.H. & Greenblatt, D.J. (2013). Effect of blueberry juice on clearance of buspirone and flurbiprofen in human volunteers. *British Journal of Clinical Pharmacology* 75(4), 1041-1052.
- Hansen, T.S. & Nilsen, O.G. (2008). In vitro CYP3A4 Metabolism: Inhibition by Echinacea purpurea and Choice of Substrate for the Evaluation of Herbal Inhibition. *Basic & Clinical Pharmacology & Toxicology* 103(5), 445-449.
- Ho, P.C., Saville, D.J. & Wanwimolruk, S. (2001). Inhibition of human CYP3A4 activity by grapefruit flavonoids, furanocoumarins and related compounds. *Journal of Pharmacy* and Pharmaceutical Sciences 4(3), 217-227.
- Hodek, P., Trefil, P. & Stiborova, M. (2002). Flavonoids-potent and versatile biologically active compounds interacting with cytochromes P450. *Chemico-Biological Interactions* 139(1), 1-21.
- Ito, K., Brown, H.S. & Houston, J.B. (2004). Database analyses for the prediction of in vivo drug-drug interactions from in vitro data. *British Journal of Clinical Pharmacology* 57(4), 473-486.
- Ito, K., Chiba, K., Horikawa, M., Ishigami, M., Mizuno, N., Aoki, J., Gotoh, Y., Iwatsubo, T., Kanamitsu, S., Kato, M., Kawahara, I., Niinuma, K., Nishino, A., Sato, N., Tsukamoto, Y., Ueda, K., Itoh, T. & Sugiyama, Y. (2002). Which concentration of the inhibitor should be used to predict in vivo drug interactions from in vitro data? AAPS Pharmsci 4(4), 1-8.
- Kahkonen, M.P. & Heinonen, M. (2003). Antioxidant activity of anthocyanins and their aglycons. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry 51(3), 628-633.
- Kahkonen, M.P., Hopia, A.I. & Heinonen, M. (2001). Berry phenolics and their antioxidant activity. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry* 49(8), 4076-4082.

- Kalogeromitros, D., Makris, M., Chliva, C., Aggelides, X., Kempuraj, D. & Theoharides, T.C. (2008). A quercetin containing supplement reduces niacin-induced flush in humans. *International Journal of Immunopathology and Pharmacology* 21(3), 509-514.
- Kalt, W., Hanneken, A., Milbury, P. & Tremblay, F. (2010). Recent research on polyphenolics in vision and eye health. J. Agric. Food Chem. 58(7), 4001-4007.
- Karlsen, A., Paur, I., Bohn, S.K., Sakhi, A.K., Borge, G.I., Serafini, M., Erlund, I., Laake, P., Tonstad, S. & Blomhoff, R. (2010). Bilberry juice modulates plasma concentration of NF-kappa B related inflammatory markers in subjects at increased risk of CVD. *European Journal of Nutrition* 49(6), 345-355.
- Kimura, Y., Ito, H., Ohnishi, R. & Hatano, T. (2010). Inhibitory effects of polyphenols on human cytochrome P450 3A4 and 2C9 activity. *Food and Chemical Toxicology* 48(1), 429-435.
- Kojima, M. & Degawa, M. (2013). Serum androgen level is determined by autosomal dominant inheritance and regulates sex-related CYP genes in pigs. *Biochemical and Biophysi*cal Research Communications 430(2), 833-838.
- Liu, S., Manson, J.E., Lee, I.M., Cole, S.R., Hennekens, C.H., Willett, W.C. & Buring, J.E. (2000). Fruit and vegetable intake and risk of cardiovascular disease: the Women's Health Study. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition* 72(4), 922-928.
- Mace, K., Aguilar, F., Wang, J.S., Vautravers, P., GomezLechon, M., Gonzalez, F.J., Groopman, J., Harris, C.C. & Pfeifer, A.M.A. (1997). Aflatoxin B-1-induced DNA adduct formation and p53 mutations in CYP450-expressing human liver cell lines. *Carcinogenesis* 18(7), 1291-1297.
- Martignoni, M., Groothuis, G.M., Kantet, R. (2006). Species differences between mouse, rat, dog, monkey and human CYP-mediated drug metabolism, inhibition and induction. *Exp. Opin. Drug Metab. Toxicol.* 2(6):875-894.
- Master, Z., Chaudhary, A., Sutter, T.R. & Willett, K.L. (2012). Effects of flavonoids on CYP1 expression in RL95-2 endometrial carcinoma cells. *Food Chemistry* 133(3), 912-922.
- Messina, A., Puccinelli, E., Gervasi, P.G. & Longo, V. (2012). Expression and inducibility of CYP1A1, 1A2, 1B1 by β- naphthoflavone and CYP2B22, CYP3As by rifampicin in heart regions and coronary arteries of pig. *Research in Veterinary Science* 94(1), 77-83
- Mikulic-Petkovsek, M., Slatnar, A., Stampar, F. & Veberic, R. (2012). HPLC-MSn identification and quantification of flavonol glycosides in 28 wild and cultivated berry species. *Food Chemistry* 135(4), 2138-2146.
- Monshouwer, M., van't Klooster, G.A.E., Nijmeijer, S.M., Witkamp, R.F. & van Miert, A. (1998). Characterization of cytochrome P450 isoenzymes in primary cultures of pig hepatocytes. *Toxicology in Vitro* 12(6), 715-723.
- Moon, Y.J., Wang, X.D. & Morris, M.E. (2006). Dietary flavonoids: Effects on xenobiotic and carcinogen metabolism. *Toxicology in Vitro* 20(2), 187-210.
- Moze, S., Polak, T., Gasperlin, L., Koron, D., Vanzo, A., Ulrih, N.P. & Abram, V. (2011). Phenolics in Slovenian Bilberries (Vaccinium myrtillus L.) and Blueberries (Vaccinium corymbosum L.). *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry* 59(13), 6998-7004.
- Obach, R.S. (2000). Inhibition of human cytochrome P450 enzymes by constituents of St. John's wort, an herbal preparation used in the treatment of depression. *Journal of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics* 294(1), 88-95.
- Preusse, C. & Skaanild, M.T. (2012). *Minipigs in absorption, distribution, metabolism and excretion (ADME) studies*. McAnulty, P.A. & Dayan, A.D. & Ganderup, N-C. & Hastings, K.L. (ed.). In *The minipig in biomedical research*, 143-158. Boca Ranton, FL: CRC Press Taylor & Francis group.
- Rasmussen, M.K., Zamaratskaia, G., Andersen, B. & Ekstrand, B. (2012). Dried chicory root modifies the activity and expression of porcine hepatic CYP3A but not 2C-Effect of in vitro and in vivo exposure. *Food and Chemical Toxicology* 50(11), 4175-4179.
- Rasmussen, M.K., Zamaratskaia, G. & Ekstrand, B. (2011). Gender-related differences in cytochrome P450 in porcine liver - implication for activity, expression and inhibition by testicular steroids. *Reproduction in Domestic Animals* 46(4), 616-623.

- Ring, B.J., Parli, C.J., George, M.C. & Wrighton, S.A. (1994). In-vitro metabolism of zatosetron –interspecies comparison and role of CYP 3A. *Drug Metabolism and Disposition* 22(3), 352-357.
- Saud, S.M., Young, M.R., Jones-Hall, Y.L., Ileva, L., Evbuomwan, M.O., Wise, J., Colburn, N.H., Kim, Y.S. & Bobe, G. (2013). Chemopreventive activity of plant flavonoid isorhamnetin in colorectal cancer is mediated by oncogenic Src and beta-Catenin. *Cancer Research* 73(17), 5473-5484.
- Schwarz, D., Kisselev, P. & Roots, I. (2005). CYP1A1 genotype-selective inhibition of benzo a pyrene activation by quercetin. *European Journal of Cancer* 41(1), 151-158.
- Seden, K., Dickinson, L., Khoo, S. & Back, D. (2010) Grapefruit-drug interactions. Drugs 70(18), 2373
- Shih, H., Pickwell, G.V. & Quattrochi, L.C. (2000). Differential effects of flavonoid compounds on tumor promoter-induced activation of the human CYP1A2 enhancer. Archives of Biochemistry and Biophysics 373(1), 287-294.
- Sjörs, H. (1989). Blåbär, Vaccinium myrtillus ett växtporträtt. Svensk Botanisk Tidskrift 83, 411-428.
- Skaanild, M.T. (2006). Porcine cytochrome P450 and metabolism. *Current Pharmaceutical Design* 12(11), 1421-1427.
- Small, E. & Catling, P.M. (1999). Canadian medical crops. Ottawa, ON, CAN: NRC Research Press.
- Soucek, P., Zuber, R., Anzenbacherova, E., Anzenbacher, P. & Guengerich, F.P. (2001). Minipig cytochrome P450 3A, 2A and 2C enzymes have similar properties to human analogs. *BMC pharmacology* 1, 11-11.
- Suenderhauf, C. & Parrott, N. (2013). A Physiologically Based Pharmacokinetic Model of the Minipig: Data Compilation and Model Implementation. *Pharm. Res* 30(1), 1-15.
- Takemura, H., Itoh, T., Yamamoto, K., Sakakibara, H. & Shimoi, K. (2010). Selective inhibition of methoxyflavonoids on human CYP1B1 activity. *Bioorganic & Medicinal Chemistry* 18(17), 6310-6315.
- Thummel, K.E. & Wilkinson, G.R. (1998). In vitro and in vivo drug interactions involving human CYP3A. *Annual Review of Pharmacology and Toxicology* 38, 389-430.
- Triebel, S., Trieu, H.L. & Richling, E. (2012). Modulation of inflammatory gene expression by a bilberry (Vaccinium myrtillus L.) extract and single anthocyanins considering their limited stability under cell culture conditions. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry* 60(36), 8902-8910.
- Venkatakrishnan, K., von Moltke, L.L. & Greenblatt, D.J. (2001). Human drug metabolism and the cytochromes P450: Application and relevance of in vitro models. *Journal of Clinical Pharmacology* 41(11), 1149-1179.
- von Moltke, L.L., Weemhoff, J.L., Bedir, E., Khan, I.A., Harmatz, J.S., Goldman, P. & Greenblatt, D.J. (2004). Inhibition of human cytochromes P450 by components of Ginkgo biloba. *Journal of Pharmacy and Pharmacology* 56(8), 1039-1044.
- Wang, H. B. & LeCluyse, E.L. (2003) Role of orphan nuclear receptors in the regulation of drug-metabolising enzymes. *Clinical Pharmacokinetics* 42(15), 1331-1357
- Yamamoto, M., Yamaura, K., Ishiwatari, M., Shimada, M., Kado, S., Seki, H., Shimada, N. & Ueno, K. (2013). Degradation Index for Quality Evaluation of Commercial Dietary Supplements of Bilberry Extract. *Journal of Food Science* 78(3), S477-S483.
- Yang, K., Lamprecht, S.A., Liu, Y.H., Shinozaki, H., Fan, K.H., Leung, D., Newmark, H., Steele, V.E., Kelloff, G.J. & Lipkin, M. (2000). Chemoprevention studies of the flavonoids quercetin and rutin in normal and azoxymethane-treated mouse colon. *Carcinogenesis* 21(9), 1655-1660.
- Zamaratskaia, G., Rasmussen, M.K., Herbin, I., Ekstrand, B. & Zlabek, V. (2011). In vitro inhibition of porcine cytochrome P450 by 17beta -estradiol and 17alpha-estradiol. *Inter*disciplinary toxicology 4(2), 78-84.
- Zamaratskaia, G., Squires, E.J., Babol, J., Andersson, H.K., Andersson, K. & Lundstrom, K. (2005). Relationship between the activities of cytochromes P4502E1 and P4502A6 and skatole content in fat in entire male pigs fed with and without raw potato starch. *Livestock Production Science* 95(1), 83-88.

- Zamaratskaia, G. & Zlabek, V. (2009). EROD and MROD as Markers of Cytochrome P450 1A Activities in Hepatic Microsomes from Entire and Castrated Male Pigs. *Sensors* 9(3), 2134-2147.
- Zamaratskaia, G., Zlabek, V., Ropstad, E. & Andresen, O. (2012). In vitro and In vivo Association of Porcine Hepatic Cytochrome P450 3A and 2C Activities with Testicular Steroids. *Reproduction in Domestic Animals* 47(6), 891-898.
- Öhrvik, V.a.M., I. & Staffas, A. & Strandler, H. S. (2011). Bär analys av närinsämnen. Livsmedelsverkets rapportserie: 12. National Food Administration Sweden.

8 Acknowledgements

Many thanks to Ensieh Hajazimi for the preparation of bilberry extract and many thanks to my supervisor Galia Zamaratskaia for excellent supervision and also to examiner Rikard Landberg.

9 Appendix: Popular summary

Are bilberry fruit and its phenolic constituent's capable of changing drug metabolism and, thus the effect of drugs?

An increased awareness about food-drug interactions may reduce unwanted sideeffects and severe complications such as those arising from a simultaneous intake of drugs with food/supplements. In this study, bilberry fruit and phenolic components from bilberry fruit was investigated for their potential to interact with the major drug metabolizing enzyme system, cytochrome P450 (CYP450). Interactions between CYP450 activity (activation/deactivation of drugs) and certain food or food components may result in an increased (or decreased) bioavailability of the drug and thus, an increased (or decreased) drug effect.

The most known example of FDI is that of grapefruit and the CYP450 isoform 3A (CYP3A), which is the quantitatively most important CYP450. Grapefruit interact with almost all drugs and may increase bioavailability of the drug and, thus the effect of the drug as much as five-fold. Active components and mechanisms of FDI are not yet fully understood. However, individual dietary flavonoids, which are most known for their many, health beneficial effects, have demonstrated potency to inhibit CYP450 and, should thus also be seen as a threat.

Pig is a good and commonly used animal model for human CYP450 activity and, drug metabolism. In this study, hepatic microsomes from pig, was used to study the activity of CYP1A and CYP3A in the presence of bilberry extract and its phenolic constituents (quercetin, myricetin, isorhamnetin, rutin, p-coumaric acid, caffeic acid and gallic acid). Previous studies have showed that gender-related differences in CYP450 activity occur in porcine, and in human, even though these results are still questioned. In the present experiment, hepatic microsomes from both male and female pigs were used.

In this study, further evidence on gender-related regulation of CYP450 was demonstrated. First, the activity of CYP1A decreased markedly in male but not in female in the presence of bilberry extract, while the activity of CYP3A increased in male and decreased in female.

Secondly, individual flavonols (quercetin, myricetin and isorhamnetin) confirmed the gender-related differences. Quercetin, the most potent of the inhibitors investigated, inhibited CYP1A in male pigs competitively and irreversibly in female pigs. The gender-related pattern of CYP1A inhibition by quercetin might explain overall inhibition of male CYP1A by bilberry extract. Previous studies, on human CYP1A activity show a lower degree of inhibition by quercetin. Isorhamnetin and myricetin inhibited CYP1A in both male and female pigs. These findings are in line with those on human CYP1A1 (Chaudhary & Willet, 2006).

Even though quercetin is a well-known CYP3A inhibitor in human, CYP3A-mediated BFC metabolism was not inhibited by quercetin in pig. This implies specierelated differences in food/feed-drug interactions, in line with previous findings. Myricetin was a weak inhibitor of CYP3A activity in male pigs (no inhibition in female pigs) compared to its potency to inhibit EROD by CYP1A. No inhibition was observed for rutin or any of the phenolic acids which was investigated in pigs in this study even though there are published data on such interactions in previous literature.

For future studies on interactions between food/feed components and CYP450 activity, this report recommends to take gender-specific patterns into account. To determine physiological significance and relevance for FDI further investigations are needed.